THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY NOV 03 2017
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002343
Opinion No. 5416 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 15, 2016)

Allen Patterson, Steve Tilton, Richard Sendler,
Lincoln Privette, Marc Ellis, Joey Carter, Barry Davis,
Michel Nieri, Allen Patterson Residential LLC, Tilton
Group, Sendler Construction Co., Inc., Privette Enterprises,
Ellis Construction Company, Inc., The Barry Davis Company, Inc.,
Great Southern Homes, and J. Carter, LLC, on behalf of
themselves and others similarly situated.....Petitioners,

v.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE TRUST FUND WAS NOT A TRUST?
- II. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN HOLDING THAT THIS ACTION INVOLVED DERIVATIVE CLAIMS SUBJECT TO RULE 23(b)(1), SCRCP?
- III. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE COMPLAINT DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE PLEADING REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 23(b)(1), SCRCP?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 1995, the South Carolina Home Builders Association created a trust to administer worker's compensation benefits for its members. That trust is titled the South Carolina Home Builders Self Insurers Fund (Trust Fund). (App. p. 351). The Trust Fund had several members of the South Carolina Home Builders Association on its board and worked in conjunction with the South Carolina Home Builders Association to sell worker's compensation insurance policies and administer the policies. (App. p. 125).

The Trustees have made significant actions towards dissolving the trust and creating a new insurance company with the proceeds. The new insurance company would be a mutual insurance company of which the Trustees would all be board members. The insurance company would not have any particular benefit to the beneficiaries of the trust. The assets of the trust would be used to set up a company competing with the trust. (App. pp. 53, 127). If the trust continues along its present course, there will be insufficient assets to cover its risks which will expose the beneficiaries to additional risk as they are subject to personal liability for any shortfall in trust assets. (App. pp. 125-129).

The Plaintiffs are beneficiaries of the Trust Fund. (App. p. 351). In February 2012, they sued the Defendants for breach of their duties as trustees. The Trustees moved to dismiss alleging that the action against them must be brought in probate court because they were the trustees of a trust. Judge Manning granted that motion. (App. p. 7). The Plaintiffs then sued in probate court and removed the case to circuit court. (App. pp. 53, 62). The Defendants again moved to dismiss, this time arguing that the entity was not a trust, but an unincorporated association subject to the additional pleading requirements of Rule 23. Judge Cooper denied the motion. (App. p. 10-18). The Defendants moved to reconsider.

Judge Cooper reversed his earlier position and held that the Trust Fund is not a “trust in its commonly recognized form.” (App. p. 19-27). As a result, he treated the trust as an unincorporated association and held the pleadings to the standards required for derivative actions under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b). Judge Cooper then determined that the trust beneficiaries did not comply with Rule 23(b) because they did not allege with particularity the efforts they made to satisfy the pre-suit demand request in Rule 23(b). As a result, he dismissed the Complaint. The Plaintiffs moved to reconsider which Judge Cooper denied. (App. p. 28). The Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal May 1, 2014.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s order dismissing Appellants’ action for relief against the Trust Fund. *Allen Patterson v. Herb Witter*, Op. No. 5416 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 15, 2016). (App. pp. 591-604). The Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended several matters of law and fact in rendering the opinion. First, the Court of Appeals improperly concluded that the Trust Fund is not a trust although it was created by a settlor as a trust, explicitly references trust law, was pled to be a trust by the fund itself, and was ruled to be a trust at the Trust Fund’s request. Second, the Court of Appeals improperly concluded the action is derivative even though the beneficiaries have separate claims as beneficiaries of a trust. Third, the Court of Appeals improperly concluded the Appellants did not comply with Rule 23(b) even though the complaint references correspondence seeking relief, the correspondence was admitted in the hearing and in the record on appeal, and the Appellants had previously sued seeking the same relief which was denied by the Trust Fund when it asserted it was a trust.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPREHENDED THE FACTS SUCH THAT IT FOUND THE TRUST FUND HAD NOT REPRESENTED ITSELF AS A TRUST.

The Panel found the Trust Fund could serially represent itself as a trust and represent itself as not a trust without violating judicial estoppel. It stated that the Trust Fund had not changed its version of events and that judicial estoppel did not apply because whether the Trust Fund is a trust is a pure question of law.

In fact, the Trust Fund continually represented itself as a trust, submitted sworn testimony that it was a trust, and received relief on the basis that it was a trust until it decided later that it was not a trust.

This matter was originally brought in February 2012 as case number 2012-CP-32-00757. (App. pp. 29-36). In that case, the Trustees moved to dismiss on the basis that the Trustees must be sued in probate court because they served a trust. The Trustees stated: “this action should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction as it involves the internal affairs of a trust.” (App. p. 139, ¶ 5). In support of this motion, the Trustees submitted the affidavit of Jeffrey Ranew. He continually refers to the South Carolina Home Builders Self Insurers Fund as a trust and the funds as a trust corpus. (App. p. 130-135).

Judge Manning granted the motion to dismiss, stating:

In particular, the Defendants have moved to dismiss on the basis of lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The Defendants argued that this lawsuit involved the internal affairs of the Trust such that it must be filed in the Probate Court under South Carolina Code Section 62-7-201.... It is clear from the documents submitted to the Court that this dispute concerns a trust.... With this in mind, the Court dismisses this lawsuit without prejudice such that it may be refiled

in Probate Court to cure any alleged defects in subject matter jurisdiction.

(App. p. 7-8).

The Trustees did not move to reconsider or appeal. They accepted the ruling as the law of the case.

In their Second Motion to Dismiss, the Trustees took the position that the Trust Fund is not a trust, but an unincorporated association. (App. p. 148). The Trustees cannot now claim that the Trust Fund is not a trust when they previously maintained that it was a trust and received relief under that theory.

Judicial estoppel precludes a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation. *Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242; 252, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997) (citing *Colleton Regional Hosp. v. MRS Med. Rev. Sys.*, 866 F. Supp. 896 (D.S.C. 1994)). Judicial estoppel applies to inconsistent statements of fact. *Id.* “When a party has formally asserted a certain version of the facts in litigation, he cannot later change those facts when the initial version no longer suits him.” *Id.*

In *Hayne Federal Credit Union v. Bailey*, Mr. Bailey claimed ownership of a house through a resulting trust. Earlier, in his divorce, he disavowed any interest in the property and maintained that the property belonged to his son. The Supreme Court held Mr. Bailey was estopped from later claiming an interest in the property because in his divorce he attributed ownership to his son.

Likewise, the Trustees cannot now claim that the Trust Fund is not a trust. The Trustees obtained an order from the court dismissing the previous lawsuit based on their factual assertion that the South Carolina Home Builders Self Insurers Fund was a trust.

Now, the Trustees take the position that it is not a trust, but an unincorporated association, which changes the pleading requirements of the lawsuit. The Trustees cannot assert these two different versions of the facts. They are bound by the assertion made in the previous lawsuit and the order which resulted. Thus, the Trust Fund is a trust, not an unincorporated association, and its beneficiaries do not have to comply with Rule 23(b) regarding derivative actions.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPREHENDED THE FACTS AND LAW WHEN IT RECATEGORIZED THE TRUST FUND AS AN UNINCORPORATED ASSOCIATION.

The Trust Fund calls itself a trust, calls its board members trustees, and meets the definition of a trust. Trusts are not treated as unincorporated associations in South Carolina.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the law when it concluded the Trust Fund does not meet the definition of a trust. A trust requires a declaration, a *res*, and designated beneficiaries. *See Whetstone v. Whetstone*, 309 S.C. 227, 331, 420 S.E.2d 877, 879 (Ct. App. 1992). The Trust agreement calls itself a trust, calls its governing body trustees, purports to be governed by the South Carolina Uniform Trustee's Powers Act, authorizes investments of the fund, and states the situs of the Trust Fund as South Carolina.

To ascertain a settlor's intent, a court must first look to the language of the instrument. If the language is perfectly plain and capable of legal construction, the language determines the form and effect of the instrument. *See, Germann v. New York Life Ins.*, 286 S.C. 34, 37, 331 S.E.2d 385, 388 (Ct. App. 1985). The Trust Fund calls itself a trust, purports to be governed by trustees, and purports to follow trust law. The document

conveys clear intent to create a trust. It never mentions a corporate form or an unincorporated association as found by the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the law when it found the Trust Fund was not a trust because it did not have a *res* or property owned by the trust. The Court of Appeals found that the Home Builders Association of South Carolina “did not transfer any money or property to the Board to hold in trust for the Fund’s members.” There is no support in the record for this statement. Because this issue was not raised at the pleadings stage, there is no information relating to whether the Trust Fund received investment funding from the settlor Home Builders Association of South Carolina. Thus, the Court of Appeals’ conclusion is based on pure conjecture because there are no facts in the record to support it and it was not raised to the trial court. The Court of Appeals then found that because the Trust Fund was funded by its beneficiaries after the trust document was executed that it could not be a trust although the funds were held for the benefit of the beneficiaries. The Beneficiaries know of no requirement that a trust be fully funded at inception or prohibition from beneficiaries contributing to trust assets. The Court of Appeals cites no authority for this statement because there is none.

In fact, the reporter’s comments to Code Section 62-7-401 indicate that an insubstantial property interest can fund a trust and that funding need not be done at the time a trust agreement is executed:

The property interest necessary to fund and create a trust need not be substantial. A revocable designation of the trustee as beneficiary of a life insurance policy or employee benefit plan has long been understood to be a property interest sufficient to create a trust. See Section 62-7-103(11) (“property” defined). Furthermore, the property interest need not be transferred contemporaneously with the signing of the trust instrument.

S.C. Code § 62-7-401 (reporter's comment).

Thus, the Court of Appeals incorrectly found that the Trust Fund was not a trust because it was not funded.

The Court of Appeals also misapprehended the law when it found the Trust Fund was an unincorporated association because it does not have ascertainable beneficiaries as required for a trust. A trust does not require that specific beneficiaries be ascertainable solely from the trust document itself as the Court of Appeals indicates in its opinion. In fact, a "beneficiary is definite if the beneficiary can be ascertained now or in the future...." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-402(c). The Trust Fund refers to members as entitled to receive the benefit of the Trust Fund as follows:

Whereas, the Settlor and the Trustee intend to apply to the South Carolina Worker's Compensation Commission for the establishment of a group self insurance fund pursuant to South Carolina statute *for the benefit of the members of the Homebuilders Association of South Carolina, Inc.* (emphasis added).

(App. p. 214). The Trust Fund even contemplates its own termination and indicates that the remaining funds "shall be distributed . . . to the participating members." (App. p. 226). Finally, the Trustees themselves have recognized that the members are entitled to the benefits of the fund by distributing excess funds to the members in the past. (App. pp. 133-134). Thus, the Trust Fund has beneficiaries even though the document refers to them as members and they are not specifically listed.

The United States Supreme Court has considered whether a trust should be treated as an unincorporated association for diversity jurisdiction purposes. *Navarro Sav. Ass'n v.*

Lee, 446 U.S. 458, 458-59 (1980).¹ In that case, the respondents asserted that the “trust form masks an unincorporated association.” *Id.* at 461. The Respondents also contended that because the trust’s operations were characteristic of an association, including “centralized management, continuity of enterprise, and unlimited duration,” that the trust was “in substance an association.” *Id.* at 461-62.

The 5th Circuit Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court disagreed. The Supreme Court stated that while certain attributes of the trust were shared by associations, having business-like practices was not dispositive evidence that a trust was an unincorporated association. *Id.* at 462. Even though shareholder beneficiaries had the power to elect and remove trustees, to terminate the trust, and to amend the Declaration or approve a majority disposition of the estate, this was insufficient to classify the trust as an unincorporated association. The Court concluded that despite these association-like characteristics, the trust was indeed a trust because the trustees had real and substantial control over the property of the trust. *Id.* at 465 n. 14. “That the trust may depart from conventional forms in other respects has no bearing on this determination.” *Id.* at 465. “We need not reject the argument that [the trust] shares some attributes of an association. In certain respects, a business trust also resembles a corporation. But this case involved neither an association nor a corporation. [The trust] is an express trust...” *Id.* at 462.

Like the trust in *Navarro*, the Home Builder’s Trust may have some unconventional attributes. For example, the beneficiaries in the Home Builder’s Trust are jointly and severally liable for underfunded losses. This is allowed under the South Carolina Trust

¹ South Carolina courts rely on federal precedent in derivative actions: “Rule 23(b)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure adopts the federal derivative suit provision, Fed. R. Civ. P. 23.1....” S.C. Code Ann. § 33-7-400.

Code. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-7-105.² The Trustees assert that because the beneficiaries are jointly and severally liable, this makes the trust an unincorporated association. This assertion is illogical. By this reasoning, joint tortfeasors would qualify as an unincorporated association. Although the beneficiaries of the Trust Fund share in liability for shortfalls in trust assets, this alone does not make the Trust Fund an unincorporated association.

A trust is a separate entity from an unincorporated association. A trust does not become another type of enterprise because it may share some characteristics of that enterprise. The Home Builder's Trust calls itself a trust, calls its board members trustees, and meets the definition of a trust.

² The following items cannot be overridden by the trust code:

- (1) the requirements for creating a trust;
- (2) the duty of a trustee to act in good faith and in accordance with the purposes of the trust;
- (3) the requirement that a trust and its terms be for the benefit of its beneficiaries, and that the trust have a purpose that is lawful and possible to achieve;
- (4) the power of the court to modify or terminate a trust under Sections 62-7-410 through 62-7-416;
- (5) the effect of a spendthrift provision and the rights of certain creditors and assignees to reach a trust as provided in Part 5;
- (6) the limitations on the ability of a settlor's agent under a power of attorney to revoke, amend, or make distributions from a revocable trust pursuant to Section 62-7-602(e);
- (7) the power of the court under Section 62-7-708(b) to adjust a trustee's compensation specified in the terms of the trust which is unreasonably low or high;
- (8) the effect of an exculpatory term under Section 62-7-1008;
- (9) the rights under Sections 62-7-1010 through 62-7-1013 of a person other than a trustee or beneficiary;
- (10) periods of limitation for commencing a judicial proceeding;
- (11) the power of the court to take such action and exercise such jurisdiction as may be necessary in the interests of justice; and
- (12) the subject matter jurisdiction of the court and venue for commencing a proceeding as provided in Sections 62-7-201 and 62-7-204.

S.C. Code Ann. 62-7-105(a). Therefore, having joint and several liability on the part of the beneficiaries is allowed under the code.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPREHENDED THE LAW WHEN IT FOUND THE PETITIONERS' CLAIMS WERE SOLELY DERIVATIVE.

The harm from mismanagement of the trust flows directly to the beneficiaries who are liable for any shortfalls in trust assets. The harm does not flow to a corporation. “[A] shareholder's suit is derivative if the gravamen of his complaint is an injury to the corporation and not to the individual interest of the shareholder.” *Brown v. Stewart*, 348 S.C. 33, 49, 557 S.E.2d 676, 684 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001). Here, the injury is to each beneficiary who must, individually, make up for any shortfall in trust assets. The shortfall will not be made up by the trustees. Therefore, according to the plain language of the rule and the case law on derivative suits, Rule 23(b) does not apply to this action brought by the beneficiaries of the Trust Fund.

The action brought by the beneficiaries is not derivative, but a direct action. “[A] direct action is one where misconduct by the management of a corporation causes a particular loss to an individual shareholder.” *In re Greenwood Supply Co.*, 295 B.R. 787, 795 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2002). Courts have ruled that actions based upon allegations of breach of fiduciary duty and negligent mismanagement that resulted in a reduction of a shareholder's ownership in a corporation constitute direct actions. If there are allegations of a distinct injury to the shareholder, the action is not derivative. *Id.*

The beneficiaries are not shareholders, and they have each suffered a particular loss. The Trust Fund was to be operated for the benefit of its members. Each member is a beneficiary of the trust. Therefore, mismanagement of the Trust Fund results in a direct loss to each beneficiary. Because they are beneficiaries and not shareholders, their only recourse is to bring a direct action. Since the Petitioners are beneficiaries of the Trust Fund, they have standing to bring this action.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the facts when it found the Petitioners' Complaint alleges that the fund has been injured, but not that the members have been injured. The Complaint says:

21. The Defendants have removed approximately five million dollars from the trust corpus for the purpose of establishing a separate member owned insurance company which will not provide any benefit to the Beneficiaries of the Trust.

22. The Trustees did not advise the beneficiaries that the funds could have been returned to them....

40. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' breach of their fiduciary duties and breach of the trust agreement, the Plaintiffs have been injured including, but not limited to, loss of funds, attorney fees, harassment and aggravation, loss of trust assets, higher payments into the Trust, and other damages all to their actual damage....

60. The beneficiaries' best interests would be served by a termination of the Trust and distribution of its assets to the beneficiaries.

(App. pp. 55, 57, 60). The Petitioners allege that the Trustees took monies from the Trust Fund, monies which were to be used for their benefit only, and used it for another purpose which injured them individually. The Complaint states the harm from the mismanagement of the trust flows directly to the beneficiaries, who are liable for any shortfalls in trust assets. The injury is to each beneficiary who must, individually, make up for any shortfall in trust assets.

There are two exceptions to the general rule that a shareholder cannot sue for injuries to a corporation: (1) where there is a special duty between the wrongdoer and the shareholder, and (2) where the shareholder suffered an injury separate and distinct from that suffered by other shareholders. *Rice-Marko v. Wachovia Corp.*, 398 S.C. 301, 308,

728 S.E.2d 61, 65 (Ct. App. 2012). The Trustees have a special duty to the member beneficiaries.

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