THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-40-2655
Appellate Case No. 2016-002343

Allen Patterson, Steve Tilton, Richard Sandler, Lincoln Privette, Marc Ellis, Joey Carter, Barry Davis, Michael Nieri, Allen Patterson Residential LLC, Tilton Group, Sandler Construction Co., Inc., Privette Enterprises, Ellis Construction Co., Inc., The Barry Davis Company, Inc., Great Southern Homes, and J. Carter, LLC, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated Petitioners,

v.

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

C. Do Petitioners Allege Direct Claims?

In an effort to evade the Rule 23(b)(1) requirements of a derivative lawsuit, Petitioners argue for the right to bring direct claims. (Petitioners' Br. at 12-14). Petitioners did not raise this issue with the circuit court; they raised it for the first time in their opening

brief to the court of appeals.⁸ Accordingly, it is not preserved for appellate review. *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Property Regime v. Greenwood Development Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 372, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006) (“In order for an issue to be properly preserved for appeal, it must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.”). Issue preservation aside, Petitioners’ argument fails as a matter of law.

A member of an association may maintain a direct claim *only* if the alleged loss or injury is separate and distinct from that of the association. *Hite*, 305 S.C. at 361, 409 S.E.2d at 342; *Rice-Marko v. Wachovia Corp.*, 398 S.C. 301, 308, 728 S.E.2d 61, 65 (Ct. App. 2012). As discussed above, the allegations in the Complaint do not state direct claims.

Petitioners argue their claims should be characterized as direct claims, notwithstanding their derivative nature. (Petitioners’ Br. at 12-13). They take the position that the *general* fiduciary duties the Board owes to *all* of the members of the Fund should be labeled as a *special duty* to each individual member, and thus convert their otherwise derivative claims into direct claims. (Petitioners’ Br. at 12-13 (citing *Rice-Marko*, 398 S.C. 301, 728 S.E.2d 61)). That argument was rejected by the very decision upon which Petitioners rely.

In *Rice-Marko*, shareholders sought to bring direct claims against officers and directors of Wachovia for losses to their investment in Wachovia stock. The shareholders alleged they had a right to bring a direct claim for these losses based, in part, upon the purported special duty exception to the rule that “shareholders do not have standing to bring direct claims for wrongs that diminish the value of their shares in a corporation.” *Id.* at 307, 728 S.E.2d at 65. Affirming the circuit court’s dismissal of the shareholders’ complaint,

⁸ *Patterson*, 418 S.C. at 81, 791 S.E.2d at 303.

the court of appeals noted that “Appellants have failed to allege any facts from which it may be inferred that Respondents owed Appellants a duty that was personal to Appellants and distinct from the duty Respondents owed Wachovia and its shareholders.” *Id.* at 309, 728 S.E.2d at 65.

In support of their purported special duty argument, Petitioners do not even cite to their Complaint. This omission is telling. Petitioners’ Complaint does *not* identify any special duty owed by the Board to Petitioners that is personal and distinct from the general fiduciary duties that the Board owes to all members. In fact, the Complaint repeatedly refers to the duties that the Board owed to the membership in terms of its general fiduciary duties. (App. p. 57, ¶33).

Petitioners also mistakenly rely upon *In re: Greenwood Supply Co.*, 295 B.R. 787 (D.S.C. 2002) for their argument that they allege direct claims. *Greenwood Supply* stands for the proposition that “a direct action is one where misconduct by the management of a corporation causes a particular loss to an individual shareholder.” *Id.* at 795. Petitioners argue that they have direct claims because they “allege that the Trustees took monies from the Trust Fund, monies which were to be used for their benefit only, and used it for another purpose which injured them individually.” (Petition, at 13). In *Greenwood Supply*, however, the court found that a “cause of action for an accounting based upon a diversion of corporate assets is a derivative action” because it “closely mirrors . . . misappropriation of corporate property, a cause of action that South Carolina courts have treated as derivative.” *Id.* at 795-96.

Petitioners do not allege direct claims. The court of appeals correctly held that the Complaint is derivative and that Rule 23(b)(1) applied.

III. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held That the Complaint Did Not Comply with the Pleading Requirements of Rule 23(b)(1), SCRPC.

A derivative action must meet the mandatory pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1), SCRPC. “A derivative action that does not meet the pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1), SCRPC, is properly dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).” *Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 351, 626 S.E.2d at 339. The pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) require particularized, detailed, and heightened allegations, and are a departure from the liberal pleading requirements of Rule 8. *Whittle*, 343 S.C. at 188, 539 S.E.2d at 409. This Rule seeks to prevent the unrestrained use of derivative actions. *Id.* at 185, 539 S.E.2d at 407.

The “protective principles” of Rule 23(b)(1) have been adopted because a proper pre-suit demand alerts the Board so that it may exercise its reasonable business judgment as to whether any corrective action should be taken. *Id.* at 188, 539 S.E.2d at 409. A plaintiff must allege *in the complaint* the details of his pre-suit demand with *particularity*. Again, a court is only able to exercise its gatekeeping authority and decide whether to allow a case to move forward beyond the pleading stage by reviewing the particularized facts in the complaint—that is, the corrective actions sought by the plaintiff *before* the complaint was filed, the efforts made to convince the Board to take those actions, and the resulting actions by the Board. *E.g.*, *Grimes*, 673 A.2d at 1219-20. Petitioners have clearly failed to meet these requirements.

A. Paragraph 8 of the Petitioners' Complaint Does Not Meet the Pleading Requirements of Rule 23(b)(1).

Petitioners claim that they have met the requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) by the allegations set forth in paragraph 8 of their Complaint. (Petitioners' Br. at 14). They clearly have not. Paragraph 8 states in its entirety:

8.
 - a. The Plaintiffs were beneficiaries of the trust at all times relevant including when the transactions complained of were made.
 - b. The Plaintiffs, their agents or others on their behalf have made efforts to obtain the action they desire in this matter including correspondence to counsel for the Defendants, meetings with counsel for the Defendants, correspondence to the Trust and a previous lawsuit to no avail.

(Complaint, ¶ 8; App. p. 54).

To make the determination of whether the pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) have been met, a court may look *only* to the four corners of the complaint. *Whittle*, 343 S.C. at 190, 539 S.E.2d at 410. Petitioners failed to satisfy the following requirements:

- Petitioners failed to allege with particularity the demands they made on the Board prior to filing suit—*i.e.*, what corrective actions they sought from the Board.
- Petitioners failed to allege with particularity the pre-suit efforts they made to convince the Board to meet their demands.
- Petitioners failed to allege with particularity the reasons for their failure to obtain the actions they sought from the Board.
- Petitioners also failed to allege with particularity any reasons for not making an appropriate pre-suit demand on the Board.

A review of the Complaint confirms Petitioners' failure to comply with the requirements of Rule 23(b)(1). Comparing the facts alleged in the Complaint to the allegations set forth in the *Whittle* complaint establishes that the Complaint clearly failed to meet the heightened pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1):

- In *Whittle*, the complaint alleged that plaintiffs demanded “certain information”; *Id.* at 189, 539 S.E.2d at 409. In the instant matter, Petitioners’ Complaint states that they sent “correspondence to counsel for the Defendants.” (Complaint, ¶8; App. p. 54).
- In *Whittle*, the complaint alleged that plaintiffs demanded that “certain actions” be taken; *Id.* at 189, 539 S.E.2d at 409. In the instant matter, the Complaint alleged that Petitioners had “meetings with counsel for the Defendants.” (Complaint, ¶8; App. p. 54).
- In *Whittle*, the complaint alleged that plaintiffs made a “supplemental demand”; *Id.* at 189, 539 S.E.2d at 409. In the instant matter, the Complaint alleges that Petitioners “sent correspondence to the Trust.” (Complaint, ¶8; App. p. 54).

As in *Whittle*, this Complaint did “not allege what the [members] demanded and what the Board rejected.” *Id.* at 189, 539 S.E.2d at 409. Petitioners alleged they sent “correspondence” without stating what was in the correspondence. Petitioners allege they “had meetings with counsel for the Defendants” without even hinting at what may have been said at the meetings. Petitioners claim they sent “correspondence to the Trust” without even summarizing what was in the correspondence. And finally, Petitioners did not allege the reasons for their failure to obtain the actions they sought from the Board. In fact, it was impossible for Petitioners to make the latter allegations because they never followed the required pre-suit demand process whereby a demand is made and a Board response is provided, before any litigation is commenced. (*See supra* pp. 3-5; *see also* App. p. 26 (discussing procedural history)).

B. Other Paragraphs in the Complaint Do Not Meet the Pleading Requirements of Rule 23(b)(1).

Petitioners argue they have complied with Rule 23(b)(1) because the relief requested in the January 30 letter matched many of the allegations in the Complaint. (Petitioners’ Br. at 14-17). This argument fails as a matter of law for a number of reasons.

First, and as noted above, Rule 23(b)(1) requires that a plaintiff plead with particularity, among other things, the “efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires *from the directors* . . . and the reasons for his failure to obtain the action.” Petitioners seek to obfuscate this essential pre-suit requirement by selectively quoting other requirements of Rule 23(b)(1). (Petitioners’ Br. at 16-17 (arguing they are only required to “identify the alleged wrongdoers,” “describe the factual basis of the alleged wrongful act,” the “harm caused,” and “request remedial relief”). The law is clear, however, that a plaintiff must plead with particularity the efforts he has made to obtain corrective action and the reasons for his failure. Indeed, the latter requirement is particularly essential because those particularized allegations are what a court must rely on in exercising its gatekeeping function. *E.g.*, *Grimes*, 673 A.2d at 1219-20 (holding that the bare allegation in plaintiff’s complaint that refusal could not have been the result of an adequate, good faith investigation failed to meet the requirements of Chancery Rule 23.1 because the complaint failed to include particularized allegations as to the Board’s refusal to act); *see also Levine v. Liveris*, No. 16-CV-11255, 2016 WL 6092731, at *9 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 19, 2016) (holding that the mere fact that the members of the investigation committee unanimously rejected plaintiff’s demands is not a particularized fact which creates a reasonable doubt that the refusal was wrongful); *Mozilo*, 135 F. Supp. 3d at 185 (holding that plaintiff’s complaint should be dismissed because it merely stated that plaintiff’s demand was refused and that the refusal was wrongful); *Baron v. Siff*, No. 15152, 1997 WL 666973, at *2-3 (Del. Ch. Oct. 17, 1997) (holding that plaintiff failed to plead with particularity facts that would create a reasonable doubt as to the good faith or reasonableness of a board’s investigation when plaintiff’s complaint merely stated that

plaintiff's demand was refused and that the refusal was wrongful); *Bezirdjian v. O'Reilly*, 183 Cal. App. 4th 316, 328, 107 Cal. Rptr. 3d 384, 395 (Cal. Ct.App. 2010) ("Since plaintiff has not pled that the Committee members either lacked independence or failed to act in good faith after reasonable inquiry, he has failed to clear the initial hurdle of an adequate pleading so as to provide a basis for discovery."). Petitioners' Complaint contains none of these essential and mandated allegations.

Second, the January 30 letter was only sent *after* Petitioners filed the first action and *after* they were put on notice that their complaint failed to satisfy Rule 23(b)(1). After the first action was dismissed, rather than await a response to their January 30 letter, Petitioners filed the second (and subject) action.⁹ In that action, and as noted above regarding the discussion of Paragraph 8, Petitioners only alleged that they had complied with Rule 23(b)(1) by vaguely referring to correspondence, a meeting, and a prior lawsuit. Petitioners' cursory approach to comply with Rule 23(b)(1) is contrary to well-settled law. *Whittle*, 343 S.C. at 190, 539 S.E.2d at 410 ("The particularized allegations must support an earnest, *and not a simulated*, effort with the managing body of the corporation to induce remedial action on their part." (emphasis added)); *see also Latimer*, 39 S.C. at 52, 17 S.E. at 261 (stating that "before the shareholder is permitted, in his own name, to institute and conduct a litigation which usually belongs to the corporation, he should show to the

⁹ During the hearing on Respondents' Motion for Reconsideration to dismiss the second action, as an accommodation to Petitioners, Respondents represented to the Court that rather than require Petitioners to formally send a demand letter, that they would accept the January 30 letter as Petitioners' demand letter in anticipation of filing a third action. (App. p. 120, ln. 19 - p. 121, ln. 15). As noted above, the Court subsequently issued an order dismissing the second action and stated that, "[o]nce the Defendants provide a response to the Plaintiffs' demand, then, if necessary, the Plaintiffs may pursue whatever legal action they determine is appropriate." (App. pp. 26-27).

satisfaction of the court that he has exhausted all the means within his reach to obtain, within the corporation itself, the redress of his grievances, or action in conformity to his wishes”).

As in *Whittle*, Petitioners brought a derivative action that failed to comply with the requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) and, thus, the circuit court properly dismissed it, and the court of appeals properly affirmed. *Clearwater Trust*, 367 S.C. at 351, 626 S.E.2d at 339. The circuit court and court of appeals correctly held that the Complaint failed to allege with particularity the efforts the Petitioners made to satisfy the pre-suit demand requirements of Rule 23(b)(1).

IV. Judicial Estoppel Does Not Apply to this Case.

Petitioners argue that Respondents should be judicially estopped from maintaining that the Fund is an unincorporated association. The court of appeals properly rejected this argument.

“Judicial estoppel precludes a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation.” *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997). The purpose of the doctrine is to protect the integrity of the judicial process. *Id.* at 251, 489 S.E.2d at 477. Significantly, “[j]udicial estoppel generally applies only to inconsistent statements of fact,” and “the doctrine does not apply to . . . assertions of alternative legal theories.” *Id.* at 251, 489 S.E.2d at 477.

Below, and in both actions filed by Petitioners, Respondents’ first ground to dismiss each complaint was based on Petitioners’ failure to comply with the mandatory pleading requirements of Rule 23(b)(1). Only as an alternative for Respondents’ Rule 23(b)(1) ground for dismissal, Respondents set forth in the first action that it should be dismissed

also for lack of subject matter jurisdiction as the Complaint made allegations concerning the internal affairs of a trust. In the first action, after having learned of the Rule 23(b)(1) deficiencies in their Complaint, Petitioners embraced the trust concept and submitted a proposed order to the circuit court stating the case concerned a trust, and their Complaint should be dismissed without prejudice. The lower court in the first action signed that order. (App. p. 7-8). Petitioners then filed the second (and current) action.